INSTRUMENTS AND METHODS OF INVESTIGATION

PACS numbers: 68.55. Ln; 78.50.Ge

Impurity ion implantation into silicon single crystals: efficiency and radiation damage

V S Vavilov, A R Chelyadinskii

Contents

1. Introduction	333
2. The spatial distribution of implanted ions	334
3. Initial positions and activation of implanted impurity atoms	335
4. Primary radiation effects and their complexes with impurity atoms	336
5. Divacancies and polyvacancy complexes	337
6. Processes involving point defect clusters during the ion implantation of silicon	337
7. Radiation-produced defects in silicon bombarded by heavy particles	338
8. Studies of radiation-produced defects in silicon using integral methods	339
9. Stable complexes with interstitial silicon atoms	340
10. Agglomeration of radiation-produced defects in highly doped silicon	341
11. Effects due to interstitial silicon atoms	342
12. Conclusion	342
References	342

Abstract. The ion implantation method is analysed from the point of view of its efficiency as a technique for doping silicon with donor and acceptor impurities, for synthesising silicon-based compounds and for producing gettering layers and optoelectronic structures. The introduction, agglomeration, and annealing of radiation-produced defects in ion-implanted silicon are considered. The role of interstitial defects in radiation-related defect formation is estimated. Mechanisms of athermal migration of silicon atoms in the silicon lattice are analysed.

1. Introduction

In the second half of the 20th century silicon, one of the most abundant elements in the Earth's crust, has become—and is most likely to remain—the most widely used and the cheapest among solid state electronics materials. American economists estimate that by the early 21st century the production of silicon semiconductor devices in the USA may be about as lucrative as the car industry.

V S Vavilov P N Lebedev Institute of Physics, Russian Academy of Sciences, 53 Leninskii prosp., 117924 Moscow, Russia

Tel. (7-095) 135 05 51; Fax (7-095) 138 22 51

E-mail: dravin@sci.fian.msk.su

A R Chelyadinskii Belorussian State University, Department of Physics 4 F Scorina prosp., 220050 Minsk, Belarus'

Received 16 November 1994, revised 19 January 1995 Uspekhi Fizicheskikh Nauk **165** (3) 347–358 (1995) Translated by E G Strel'chenko; edited by H Milligan The development of solid state electronics in the last 15 years has been dominated by 'planar' systems which came to take over from the three-dimensional structures of germanium—and later silicon—devices. The method of major importance to planar design has been the implantation of the accelerated ions of electrically active impurities, something which first appeared to be an exotic, over-complicated and unnecessarily expensive venture.

The advantages and natural limitations of the ion implantation technique have been discussed in Ref. [1], and also by one of us (VSV) in a 1985 UFN review article [2]. In recent years, the body of relevant information has grown considerably. The present review is deliberately limited to data on single crystal silicon; the inclusion of amorphous and 'porous' silicon appears impossible within a standard-length UFN paper. Besides it seems premature to address these questions.

Because of the paramount importance of silicon as material number one in solid state electronics, problems related to the growth of single crystals and to their imperfections have been the subject of numerous publications, international conference proceedings, and monographs, in particular [3-5]. There is no doubt that our knowledge in this area will advance from year to year.

Within our topic, the question we address is: to what extent is a tour de force, nonequilibrium method like fastion implantation effective as a means of controlling silicon properties? There was considerable doubt repeatedly voiced by authorities that the crystal region near the end of the track of the implanted ion, containing clusters of many (typically several hundreds) displaced atoms, would be able to recover properly.

However, it was shown experimentally long ago that the electrical activity of standard dopants such as phosphorus

Tel. (7-0172) 26 57 44; Fax (7-0172) 26 59 40, 20 82 72

and boron, when introduced by ion implantation, may be very high although — for reasons to be discussed further on — often somewhat lower than for most of the Group III and V chemical impurities which are introduced into silicon under quasi-equilibrium crystal growth conditions. In the latter case, impurities forming hydrogen-like centres have about 100% activity, provided their concentration is not above the solubility limit.

The advantages of ion implantation as a technique for the precision local doping of solids are currently well known to specialists. These are, above all, high reproducibility and the possibility of introducing any type of impurity into the material (silicon, in our case).

In recent years great strides have been made in accelerator design technology. A tenfold increase in ion beam current density has been achieved and effective methods for removing heat from the target developed; the latter was a well known obstacle to early microelectronics applications of ion implantation because of the often uneconomical exposure times required.

Accelerators for working with heavy ions of up to tens of MeV have been built which make it possible (via synthesis of SiO_2 or Si_3N_4 at the required depth) to produce isolating layers with which to separate the active region, where transistors, diodes, and other integrated circuit 'microelements' are located, from the passive substrate intended to release heat. The main complication we hinted at above is that the radiation-produced defects which are unavoidably present immediately after the ion implantation require that some type of influence be exerted on the resulting structure in order to translate it from the initial highly nonequilibrium (metastable) state into a new state closer to equilibrium. This process is usually called annealing [1, 2].

2. The spatial distribution of implanted ions

The loss of energy by charged particles in interaction with condensed media has been treated in many works, notably in the remarkable monograph by Niels Bohr [6]. Since then, approximate methods for calculating the energy losses of heavy charged particles have been improved greatly. A detailed exposition of the methods is given in the book by Kumakhov and Komarov [7] and in the tables of Ref. [8].

One of the effects that exert an appreciable influence on the final depth distribution of implanted ions is channeling, the anomalously deep penetration of some ions along natural 'channels,' i.e. the crystallographic (usually smallindex) axes. This effect is especially important for silicon single crystals because of their high perfection.

It has been shown by direct experiment that along with channeling (which proceeds under conditions of optimal single crystal orientation), there unavoidably exists random channeling involving some portion of the fast ions: those that did not enter the single crystal at an easy penetration angle initially.

In the absence of channeling, present-day range calculation methods (see Refs [7, 8]) agree with experiment to within $\pm 10\%$. In the literature on range calculation one usually employs the term 'amorphous silicon', and this should be regarded with caution since genuine amorphous silicon differs in density from its single crystal counterpart.



Figure 1. The most probable values and scatter of boron ion ranges in silicon with no channeling [7].

It would be better to speak of an absence of channeling directions.

Fig. 1 presents data on the most probable values and scatter of the range lengths of boron and silicon ions, in the absence of channeling, for ion energy intervals most typical of implantation accelerators now in large batch production in the USA, Japan, and other countries.

In Fig. 2 we demonstrate the influence of channeling on the distribution profile of phosphorus ions implanted into a perfect silicon single crystal, and into a silicon crystal preliminarily amorphised with silicon ions [9].

Fig. 3 reproduces the dependence of the average range of ions on their mass in silicon, and also shows the scatter in range due to the statistical nature of the processes



Figure 2. Effects of channeling on the distribution profile of phosphorus ions implanted (1) into a perfect single crystal of silicon, and (2) into a crystal first amorphised with silicon ions [9].



Figure 3. Mean values and scatter of ions of various masses in silicon in the absence of channeling [2].

responsible for the gradual decrease in the kinetic energy of ions deep in the target. Although energies above 1 MeV or so are used very rarely because of the significant development and maintenance expenditures required by heavy ion accelerators, work in this direction is being done systematically in some laboratories. The future promises an intensification of this line of research, primarily on protons, with the intention of producing very deep layers of semi-insulating silicon whose conductivity is reduced to a minimum ($\rho = 2 \times 10^5 \Omega$ cm and more) by introducing deep-level radiation-induced defects.

A method is currently being developed for producing isolating SiO_2 (and Si_3N_4) layers sufficiently deep for problems in silicon microelectronics to be resolved. Unfortunately, the doses one needs for the $Si - SiO_2$ (or $Si - Si_3N_4$) phase transitions to occur are quite high and require long irradiation times. Although modern ion beam focusing techniques do allow large current densities, long-term irradiation is necessitated by the heat removal requirement: otherwise, strong heating and the modification of material properties, or even the melting of the target, are unavoidable.

It should be noted that, apart from the shallow Group III and V donor and acceptor impurities, implanting rare earth and in particular erbium ions is of increasing interest for the solution of optoelectronics problems now on the agenda. To the so-called intra-central radiative transitions in the 4*f* shell of erbium there corresponds a system of narrow luminescent bands at about a $1.54 \,\mu\text{m}$ wavelength. This radiation is apparently independent of the nearest lattice environment.

Michel and Kimmerling with coworkers [10] have shown that high-energy (5 MeV) erbium ion implantation followed by prolonged annealing of the silicon lead to the appearance of about 1.5 μ m deep stable luminescence centres which the authors of that work associate with clusters of atomic erbium resulting from the fall-out of a second phase. Erbium-implanted silicon not only exhibits photoluminescence but, when in p-n junction structures, also shows injection luminescence, which enabled the authors to fabricate light-emitting diodes of a type which proved to be very interesting for optoelectronics technologists.

Most recently, considerable progress in the development of multiple-ion sources permitted a substantial increase in ion range to be achieved. A recent paper by Biersack [11] provides an analysis of the passage of multiply charged ions through materials and presents a comparison with available data for silicon.

3. Initial positions and activation of implanted impurity atoms

From numerous publications starting from the early work of the Gusevs [12, 13] it is evident that the initial position of an impurity atom in silicon should be considered as taken at random from the following options:

(a) the impurity substitutes a silicon atom in the lattice in its initial structure;

(b) the impurity comes to a stop at one of the possible interstitial positions;

(c) the impurity forms an associate (complex) with one or more point defects; or

(d) the impurity stops within the amorphous region into which the initial silicon has transformed (limiting case).

A detailed analysis of the cases (a) and (b) is given below. However, the major objective of ion implantation research has most often been to maximise the electrical activity of the implant, which, for the Group III and V elements, implies the substitution of a silicon atom. Therefore, even in early work the ion implantation procedure was followed by annealing under quasistationary conditions, i.e. by long-term heating in a furnace.

It is appropriate to recall here that this very natural technique was first used back in the 1950s by Lark – Horovitz to minimise the effect of irradiation-produced defects on germanium. The irradiation of the latter (by neutrons) was aimed at obtaining impurities as a result of the nuclear reactions involved [14].

In the case of silicon, prolonged annealing almost always has unpredictable side effects due to the diffusion of uncontrollable impurities throughout the crystal. As is known, silicon single crystals unavoidably have appreciable concentrations of carbon, nitrogen, and oxygen [3, 4]. A brief discussion of this question is also given in Ref. [5].

Smirnov, Khaibullin and colleagues [15] were first to propose and implement the method of local pulsed annealing of ion implanted semiconductors, above all of silicon. The technique they employed first in their experiments was local excitation by pulsed laser radiation. (The term 'laser annealing' is still in use, although it is more appropriate to speak of the 'local pulsed annealing of implanted structures'). After numerous and successful applications of this technique to silicon it turned out that pulsed excitation by incoherent light or by fast electrons give similar results.

Over several years, discussions were held, theoretical estimates made, and experiments carried out in order to find out whether the situation is dominated by the shortduration thermal excitation of the silicon lattice or alternatively by the internal ionisation effect, i.e. the massive generation of pairs of nonequilibrium charge carriers in the near-surface layer.

In fact, it was established back in the 1960s that the charge state of point defects in silicon greatly influences their mobility and stability properties [5, 16]. This fact is presently beyond any doubt and invariably employed in interpreting phenomena associated with the appearance of 'secondary' defects (see below). Direct experiments have shown, however, that in the case of silicon, pulsed annealing results from the short-duration heating of the near-surface layer and that ionisation processes play only a secondary role [15].

As noted earlier, Group III or V impurities substituting host atoms in implanted silicon ultimately have the same energy levels and the same charge-carrier capture cross sections as the impurities introduced by the single-crystal or epitaxial-film growth processes. However, because of relatively stable residual defects of radiative origin, the ion implantation method is, with a few exceptions, less effective.

On the other hand, some experiments suggest that sometimes a proper choice of an impurity dose and a pulsed annealing regime may yield a high level of impurity supersaturation and the implanted region will have electrically active impurities in concentrations one or more orders of magnitude larger than the equilibrium solubility value. The stability of such structures has not yet been studied in detail.

Apart from implanting shallow donor and acceptor impurities in order to produce planar electronics structures, in some cases the implantation of other ions (in particular, of the transition elements or inert gases) has been valuable for the creation of luminescence centres. Moreover, it has been found fairly recently that implanting silicon with rare-earth ions produces 'gettering' of point defects and of uncontrollable impurities, which even at low temperatures migrate from the 'working' portions of the silicon plate (where active elements such as diodes and transistors are made) into its nonactive region (for example, into the near-surface layer at the other side of the plate).

The mechanism of gettering is not yet completely understood, but most likely is due to the development of large mechanical stresses within and outside the implanted layer.

4. Primary radiation effects and their complexes with impurity atoms

Many of those authors dealing with the radiation resistance of silicon and silicon-based devices rely in their estimates on the notion of the cascade multiplication of primary Frenkel pairs that form in collision processes: an idea known from the work of Dienes and Vineyard [17].

There is an important point to note here. The threshold energy for a collision event to displace an atom from its site does not of course correspond to a zero-to-unity step for the displacement probability but is a smoother dependence. Therefore, taking into account the anticipated annihilation instability of 'close Frenkel pairs', such estimates should rather be viewed as giving the maximum limiting number of Frenkel pairs.

Nevertheless, it is these estimates which are most often used in predicting the radiation resistance of a semiconducting material [16]. This is analogous to introducing a safety factor when designing bridges or the running-gear car parts. The term DPA (displacements per atom) has come into prominent use in the literature.

Brinkman [18] proposed an alternative view of the defect formation process for the case when a fast particle loses a large amount of energy at the end of its range. According to his estimates, the average distance between collisions that produce secondary atoms approaches the interatomic separation even if the energy of the primary atom is of order 2×10^4 eV. The primary atom is decelerated extremely rapidly, thus creating a dense region of secondary displacements. Brinkman argues that within this region it is impossible to consider each displacement (or Frenkel pair) separately because atoms in the region of maximum energy release transform into a completely disordered melt-like state.

According to Ref. [18], near the end of the track of the initial atom (an ion in the silicon lattice in our case) inversion takes place, i. e. some of the atoms initially near the track are ejected a maximum distance away. The disordered region recrystallises within $10^{-10}-10^{-12}$ s, starting from the outer boundary. It is assumed that most of the atoms will rearrange themselves into the initial lattice.

Unfortunately, no quantitative estimates are possible with the Brinkman model. The model has been criticised by Seitz and Koehler [19]. Brinkman's qualitative argument deserves serious attention, however.

At present, the formation of large clusters of defects at the end of the ion track in implanted silicon (and other semiconductors as well) is invariably discussed in terms of the cascade model.

Along with the collision-assisted displacement of silicon atoms from their sites, there is the Frenkel pair formation due to processes induced by the excitation of the elec- tron subsystem of the crystal [20]. The mechanism and efficiency of such processes still remain the subject of discussion.

According to one model, Frenkel pair formation is initiated by the multiple ionisation of silicon atoms. An alternative mechanism, proposed by Karpov and Klinger [21], assumes that in the initial (in our case, silicon) crystal there are 'preferred pairs' containing a silicon atom and an impurity ion interacting with one another. As far as silicon single crystals are concerned, which of the above mechanisms is more effective is not clear at present.

Based on the models above it is estimated that the number of primary Frenkel pairs due to such processes may increase by 30-50% from its initial value (according to Ref. [21], in highly doped silicon the contribution of the 'impurity' mechanism should be greater). The 'fate' of vacancies and interstitials following Frenkel pair generation is also strongly dependent on the presence of chemical impurities in the crystal.

It has been convincingly demonstrated that isolated vacancies and interstitials in silicon are mobile even at low temperatures. It is also known that isolated silicon interstitials at room temperature and above do not behave as electrically active centres. (In the simplest model they could act as shallow donors). Other effects associated with host interstitials will be addressed below.

The behaviour of the members of Frenkel pairs in silicon is illustrated in the 1993 paper of Watkins [22] (Fig. 4). The figure shows the important role of impurities in irradiated silicon. The same diagram shows the energy levels of vacancies in different charge states. Microscopic models of complexes formed by vacancies combining with one another and with chemical impurities are given in Ref. [5].

Fig. 5 shows the temperature ranges where vacancyimpurity complexes exist. Many of these have deep energy levels and affect significantly the electrical conductivity and



Figure 4. (a) Migration processes and the interaction between the members of Frenkel pairs in silicon [22]. (b) Complexes of interstitial silicon atoms trapped by substitutional aluminium, boron, or carbon atoms as obtained from the EPR spectra [22].



Figure 5. Temperature ranges of existence of basic vacancy-impurity complexes [5].

recombination processes in crystals subjected to implantation and subsequently annealed.

5. Divacancies and polyvacancy complexes

Divacancies may form as primary defects if the incident particle transmits energy sufficient to displace two neighbouring silicon atoms. The increase in the number of divacancies observed experimentally in the vacancyannealing temperature range suggests that divacancies also appear as two isolated vacancies agglomerate.

Models of spatial divacancy configurations, together with the corresponding energy levels, are given in Refs [5, 16]. Boron, carbon and oxygen atoms can capture silicon interstitials, thus reducing annihilation processes and facilitating vacancy agglomeration.

Ion implantation, as well as fast-neutron irradiation, also leads to polyvacancy complexes of three, four, five or more neighbouring vacancies [16]. Fig. 6 shows the temperature ranges where single vacancies, divacancies, and polyvacancy complexes exist.



Figure 6. Temperature ranges of existence of single vacancies, divacancies, and of polyvacancy complexes [5]; *I*—planar complex, *II*—nonplanar complex.

6. Processes involving point defect clusters during the ion implantation of silicon

As noted earlier, an ion-implanted silicon single crystal is a spatially heterogeneous system which includes clusters located near the stoppage point of implanted ions, and point defects (such as divacancies and complexes of vacancies with chemical impurities) distributed more or less randomly over the volume. These defects are mainly distributed within the implanted ion's range below the surface. Clusters are concentrated at depths roughly corresponding to the most probable projection of the range onto the initial ion direction.

Apart from random channeling [7], which leads to the deep penetration of both ions themselves and defects they produce, it has been found recently that some defects penetrate abnormally large distances compared to the ion range. This phenomenon, not altogether properly termed the 'long range effect', has been observed in silicon and in other semiconductors, in particular GaAs [23].

The nature of the long range effect remains unclear. Some ascribe it to the large mechanical stresses arising in the region of the maximum concentration of implanted impurities: the propagation of the stress region gives rise to additional defects, strictly of nonradiation origin. Others associate this effect with shock waves propagating around the clusters formed in the crystal [24].

The body of experimental results have led to the notion of irradiation-assisted defect formation in heavy-particle irradiated silicon (see Ref. [24] for a discussion). Given the high mobility of interstitial atoms, they were assumed to disperse in a very short time from the formation point to sinks. The defect cluster then remains with single vacancies alone. These are also mobile and participate in the formation of complexes such as divacancies or impuritycontaining complexes.

For small primary clusters with low vacancy concentration, it is expected that the vacancies will disperse giving rise to secondary stable defects primarily outside the initial displacement cascade ('runaway' primary cluster). If the size of the cluster and the concentration of vacancies in it are sufficiently high, the formation of stable complexes (mainly divacancies) will occur primarily in the volume of the primary cascade ('congealing' cluster).

This picture remains generally accepted. However, Watkins [26], studying defect formation in silicon irradiated at low temperatures by 46 MeV electrons (which characteristically initiate displacement cascade formation), found that divacancies form as primary defects and that their concentration does not increase on further warming to room temperature. The divacancy concentration was about 5% of that of the single vacancies.

Now what is the difference between the displacement cascades that form in silicon irradiated by high energy (46 MeV) electrons and those resulting from neutron or ion irradiation? First of all, the higher local density of atomic displacements in the latter case. But if vacancies form primarily in cascades of lower displacement density, then it is expected that at higher densities the efficiency of their introduction will not be less. Moreover, divacancies as primary defects also form under light-particle irradiation, when cascades do not appear, i.e. when only isolated point defects form [27, 28].

For a high local density of defects in a cascade, one expects that the divacancies that form as primary defects do not manifest their individual properties. A divacancy as a specific centre having its own structure—and, more important, its own energy states—can be only considered against the background of a perfect crystal lattice.

As a consequence of the elastic distortions of the lattice due to the defects surrounding a divacancy—predominantly due to single vacancies, whose concentration is about 20 times higher—the divacancy loses its individuality. Upon annealing the vacancies, the crystal matrix becomes more perfect, and divacancies do not form any more but just manifest themselves. Concentration effects will be addressed again in Section 7.

Let us here discuss the well known experiments on divacancy afterformation [29, 30]. The increase in divacancy concentration in silicon upon low-temperature neutron or ion irradiation was obtained by raising the temperature in parallel with low-energy electron illumination. The process started at 60 K. The divacancy concentration reached the same values as with no illumination. The results were interpreted as divacancy afterformation.

The decrease in the temperature of the process was ascribed to the higher mobility of vacancies when in the negative charge state. One hardly expects, however, that the afterformation of divacancies from neutral and negatively charged vacancies will be equally effective, because of the electrostatic interaction between vacancies in the latter case. In our view, this experiment does not substantiate the fact of divacancy afterformation but rather casts a shadow of doubt on the mechanism discussed.

7. Radiation-produced defects in silicon bombarded by heavy particles

Radiation damage in silicon is mostly studied by methods which monitor particular types of local centres. Interpretation in most cases is based on the analysis of EPR spectra. Optical methods like IR absorption and luminescence are widely used. Piezospectroscopic absorption and luminescence studies give insight into the symmetry properties of point defect centres.

The agglomeration of prevailing vacancy defects, i.e. of divacancies, has been examined by EPR [31] and IR absorption [32, 33]. In Fig. 7 we have used EPR data to show the change in the concentration of divacancies in the negative charge state in silicon layers radiated by different doses of O^+ ions. Shown also is the agglomeration of tetravacancies (Si-P3 centres) [34] as well as of the centres of amorphous phase (in EPR spectra, an isotropic line with a g factor of 2.0055).

As the dose of O^+ ions increases, the concentrations of both divacancies and tetravacancies reach a maximum and then start to decline. The decline has nothing to do with silicon amorphisation, however. The amorphisation starts at much higher irradiation doses. A similar picture of the agglomeration of divacancies in the negative charge state during the irradiation of silicon with various types of ions was observed with IR absorption using the 1.8 µm band [32, 33].

The decrease in the concentrations of divacancies and tetravacancies is due to concentration-related self-suppression of specific properties of the defects. A highly damaged



Figure 7. Variation of the concentration of divacancies (1), tetravacancies (2), and of the centres of amorphous phase (3) in silicon versus O⁺ ion dose [31].

region in which point defects lose their individual properties while conserving crystal structure is called CDR, for crystalline defect region [33]. Ref. [32] yields an estimate of 10^{20} cm⁻³ for the limiting concentration of divacancies in clusters in which the divacancies still manifest their individual properties.

For silicon irradiated with reactor neutrons, IR absorption data [35] suggest a divacancy concentration of 10^{19} cm⁻³ for primary clusters (i.e. for those formed in one displacement cascade). This value characterises the average concentration of defects over the cluster. At the centre of a cluster their concentration is markedly higher.

The same is true for silicon implanted with ions of intermediate mass with energies of the order of 100 keV. Noting that the concentration of the produced vacancies is about 20 times that of divacancies, it seems reasonable to blame concentration effects on the lack of observability of divacancies in neutron-irradiated or ion-irradiated silicon at low temperatures.

8. Studies of radiation-produced defects in silicon using integral methods

It can be seen from Fig. 7 that differential methods (i.e., ones monitoring specific types of defect centres) lead to a lack of information on the agglomeration of radiation damage between the points where the concentration of point defects starts to fall and where amorphisation begins. In this case, methods investigating the overall distortion of the crystal may be of use.

Among the integral methods, optical reflection, x-ray diffraction, and ion backscattering appear to be the most weighty from the point of view of the volume of the studies performed and results obtained. Ion backscattering is particularly informative in the channeling regime. It enables one not only to determine the integral degree of crystal distortion but also the localisation of impurity atoms. It is this latter point which is the main advantage of the method.

In determining the overall distortion of the crystal, x-ray diffraction methods are much more sensitive than the ion backscattering technique. By studying the interference of x-rays diffracted on the implanted layer, radiation-damage depth distribution profiles can be constructed without destroying the implantation layer [36-38].

The fundamental parameter of a crystal is its lattice period. It is sensitive to impurity doping and to radiation-related defects. The lattice period may be measured with a minimal error of 10^{-8} Å [39], but the bulk of x-ray diffraction studies have been made with an error of $10^{-5}-10^{-6}$ Å.

When under reactor neutron irradiation, the silicon lattice period increases isotropically. In implanted layers its change is along the normal to the implantation plane, because in the plane the layer is bound rigidly to the substrate. As amorphisation starts, the break-up of interatomic bonds and relaxation of elastic stresses take place [40].

Fig. 8a shows the variation of the lattice period in a silicon layer, Δa , with the dose Φ of Si⁺ [41]. The curve *I* represents the agglomeration of intrinsic radiation defects. (Curves 2-4 are discussed in Section 10). Up to a Si⁺ dose of 1×10^{14} cm⁻², where isolated regions of defect clusters are introduced, the $\Delta a(\Phi)$ dependence is linear. The



Figure 8. (a) Lattice period changes in silicon with Si ion implantation (1) and with preliminary Sb, As, and P doping (2-4) [41]: (1) Si (B), $\rho_0 = 10 \ \Omega \ \text{cm}$; (2) $\Phi_{\text{Sb}} = 2 \times 10^{14} \ \text{cm}^{-2}$; (3) $\Phi_{\text{As}} = 1 \times 10^{14} \ \text{cm}^{-2}$; (4) $\Phi_{\text{P}} = 2 \times 10^{14} \ \text{cm}^{-2}$. (b) Distribution of relative volumes occupied by non-overlapping (1) and *n* times overlapped (2-4) defect clusters.

sublinear character of $\Delta a(\Phi)$ for Si⁺ doses above 1×10^{14} cm⁻² is due to the fact that the defect annihilation increases as displacement cascades overlap with defect clusters introduced earlier. The relaxation of elastic stresses in the beginning of the amorphisation process at the ion dose of 6×10^{14} cm⁻² manifests itself as a bend in the $\Delta a(\Phi)$ curve.

Fig. 8b represents the relative volume distributions for defect clusters which do not overlap (curve *I*), overlap twice (curve 2), etc. The distributions are described by the Poisson probabilities. For Si⁺ ion implanted silicon, the limiting defect concentration corresponding to the transition of the material to the amorphous state is achieved at the triple overlap between defect clusters, and in the case of B⁺ ion implantation, at the fivefold overlap [42]. The limiting defect concentration a cluster must have for silicon to become amorphous is approximately 5×10^{21} cm⁻³ [43].

Now what types of defects are responsible for the lattice period increase observed in silicon under high-energy particle irradiation? To obtain the answer it is necessary to consider the nature of lattice period recovery in implanted silicon subject to the annealing process.

The recovery of a Si^+ implanted silicon lattice for isochronal (15 min) annealing is given by curve *l* in Fig. 9. The lattice period recovers in two basic stages: at



Figure 9. Lattice period recovery in silicon implanted with $Si^+(1)$, $Li^+(2)$, $P^+(3)$, $B^+(4)$ following isochronal annealing [47].

100-280 °C and 380-600 °C. For neutron irradiated silicon, the defect annealing is complete at 700 °C in the bulk and at 600 °C at the surface of the crystal [44]. The lower defect annealing temperatures seen in implanted layers and in the surfaces of neutron irradiated crystals are associated with the fact that the surface is a sink for radiation-produced defects.

The first stage of lattice period recovery coincides with the temperature interval of divacancy annealing. The second stage involves the annealing of polyvacancy complexes such as fivefold ones (Si-P1 centres) and some other complexes, not yet identified. As suggested by the data of Refs [45, 46], these complicated complexes do not form during the irradiation but rather during the subsequent treatment and are the product of the structural rearrangement of the defects.

To prove that the first stage is mainly the annealing of divacancies, a defect annealing experiment on Li^+ irradiated silicon was made [47]. Under Li^+ irradiation the divacancy production in silicon is as effective as for other light ions, but a divacancy annealing stage is in this case absent.

Upon thermal treatment at about 80 °C lithium becomes mobile and is trapped by divacancies. The resulting complexes are annealed out at higher temperatures than divacancies [48]. A similar situation occurs with lattice period recovery. In Li^+ implanted silicon the lattice period recovers in the same temperature interval as that where lithium divacancy complexes are annealed (curve 2 in Fig. 9). The importance of this experiment is in the proof that vacancy defects can increase the lattice period of silicon.

By analogy with metals, some authors [49, 50] assume that vacancy defects must reduce the lattice period in silicon and that its increase can only result from interstitial defects. In covalent crystals the situation is more complex than in metals. Broken bonds occurring near defects unite to form a 'defect' molecule. It is the nature of these bonds which determines whether the atoms in the first coordination sphere will relax into or out of the defect region. The lattice period decreases or increases respectively.

Calculations based on the EPR data [51] have shown that the sign of the atomic displacements in the region of a single vacancy in silicon depends on the charge state of the vacancy. For divacancies in the negative and positive charge states, the atomic displacements have the same direction, away from the defect, but the absolute magnitudes of the displacements are different for these two charge states. If the defect charge exchange is achieved optically or by charge carrier injection, the lattice must shrink and dilate at the frequency of the charge exchange of the prevailing defects.

Upon implanting impurity atoms, defect-impurity complexes appear in silicon. In silicon implanted with P^+ ions, in addition to E-centres [5], complicated complexes form whose annealing temperature is 100 °C higher than that of the intrinsic polyvacancy complexes (curve 3 in Fig. 9) [47].

In B⁺ implanted silicon, defects that are annealed at the high-temperature 700–900 °C stage appear (curve 4 in Fig. 9). Their concentration is correlated with B⁺ ion dose ($C_d \propto \Phi^2$) [52]. The formation of complicated complexes with radiation-produced defects involves Sb and As [41].

9. Stable complexes with interstitial silicon atoms

The concentration of EPR-identified room-temperature stable interstitial complexes is several orders of magnitude lower than that of divacancies [35].

Appreciable concentrations of interstitials are suggested by the data from internal friction studies of irradiated silicon [53]. Electron-microscopic investigations of residual damage in irradiated and subsequently annealed silicon have revealed the existence of implantation stacking defects [54]. These are presumably built up from the interstitial silicons that form during the break-up of interstitial complexes.

In Refs [47, 55] the x-ray diffraction method was used to determine the concentration and annealing temperature of stable interstitial complexes. The work relied on the well known phenomenon that Si interstitials push out Group III elements from the silicon lattice sites (Watkins effect). It was expected that the substitution process also takes place during the thermal treatment of the resulting samples provided the annealing of complexes liberates interstitial silicons.

The displacement of boron atoms from crystal sites is readily monitored by the change in the lattice period of the crystal. Boron atoms have a covalent radius of 0.8 Å, which is smaller than that of Si (1.175 Å), and so they shrink the silicon lattice when occupying its sites. As boron atoms are displaced from the sites, the lattice period is expected to increase. This is indeed the case in highly boron doped ($\rho_0 = 0.005 \ \Omega$ cm) and implanted silicon. Superimposed on the lattice period recovery curves there are 'reverse annealing' stages (Fig. 10). In B⁺ implanted silicon these are at 120 and 480 °C, and in the case of P⁺ ions at 160 and 560 °C.

Defect annealing studies in silicon layers either implanted with Group III-V elements or excited by low-energy (10 keV) electrons have shown that annealing



Figure 10. Lattice period recovery in highly boron doped silicon implanted with $B^+(1, 3)$ and $P^+(2)$ [58].

temperatures for the interstitial complexes are charge state dependent [56]. In the positive charge state, the interstitial defects associated with Si-P6 and Si-B3 centres are annealed out at 120 and 480 $^{\circ}$ C respectively, whereas in the neutral charge state the temperatures are 160 and 560 $^{\circ}$ C [5].

In the positive charge state, thermal treatment causes Si-P6 centres to rearrange into a more stable Si-B3 configuration. This agrees with the EPR data [57]. In the neutral charge state Si-P6 centres are annealed (destroyed) by liberating mobile, interstitial Si atoms. Estimates show that the concentration of interstitial complexes is comparable with that of divacancies.

Now the question emerges: why is it that in highly B-doped silicon, boron atoms are not displaced already in the process of implantation? The site-knocked Si atoms are an order of magnitude more abundant than the stable complexes. Ref. [58] associates this with the charge state of the defects. During the implantation of ions into silicon a major part of the ion energy is lost in inelastic interactions (for 100 keV B⁺ ions this is about 80%).

The high level of ionisation may lead to a situation in which primary radiation defects, including the knocked out silicons, will become charged by trapping nonequilibrium electrons. This will prevent them from substituting negatively charged boron atoms in lattice sites. This suggestion is substantiated by experiments on the thermal annealing of irradiated samples using an electron 'illumination' (curve 3 in Fig. 10) [58].

With the charge state of Si interstitials during implantation one can associate [58] the differences which, according to Refs [59, 60], exist in the fractions of boron atoms occupying lattice sites directly in the process. The reason is to be found in different implantation conditions, primarily in terms of ion current density. The fraction of site-occupying boron atoms is determined not only by vacancy trapping but also by the substitutional activity of Si interstitials, which depends on the ionisation state.

10. Agglomeration of radiation-produced defects in highly doped silicon

The work of Hirvonen and Eisen [61] has demonstrated that the dose of amorphisation of silicon does not depend on the level of boron doping up to concentrations of the order of 10^{20} cm⁻³. In Refs [62, 63], the effect of Group III and V impurities on the silicon amorphisation dose was established at an impurity concentration of 4×10^{21} cm⁻³. These experiments do not reflect the agglomeration of intrinsic defects, however. At this level of doping, the possible concentrations of complexes of radiation-produced defects with impurities are comparable to the limiting defect concentration corresponding to the transition of the material to the amorphous state.

Refs [41, 46] contain the data on the defect agglomeration process during Si ion implantation in n-type silicon layers doped to about 10^{19} cm⁻³ (see curves 2-4 in Fig. 8). At this level of doping n-type silicon exhibits higher rates of introduction and agglomeration of stable defects as compared to undoped samples. For doped layers one also observes that in the implantation layer the limiting defect concentrations corresponding to the onset of amorphisation are higher. Nevertheless undoped and highly doped n silicon have the same amorphisation doses. The amorphisation takes place at a triple overlap of the defect cluster.

The differences in defect formation efficiency are believed to be related to the intensities of the annihilation processes. In highly doped n-type silicon layers annihilation seems to be prevented by the barrier formed by mobile vacancies with like charges with Si interstitials on the one hand and stable defects on the other.

The regions where the defect annihilation is slowed down most effectively are those where they cluster. In this case there is no need for each stable defect to capture a charge carrier. The electrons trapped onto the outer shell of a cluster form a barrier which bars not only electrons (Gossick's model [65]) but also vacancies of like charge and Si interstitials from the region.

The suppression of the annihilation process gives rise to high defect concentrations in clusters and also increases the size of the defects. This explains the seemingly uninterpretable difference in the limiting values of Δa , the defect concentrations corresponding to the onset of amorphisation. The point is that defects are distributed nonuniformly in the clusters. The defect concentration has a maximum at the centre of a cluster and decreases toward its periphery.

Amorphisation sets in when the central regions of the clusters overlap. The defects on the periphery of the clusters do not participate early in amorphisation but do contribute to the observed change in the lattice period. This contribution is greater for highly doped silicon. The differences observed are not only in the efficiency of defect agglomeration but also in the defect production rate. It is necessary that the proposed model be adequate for the early irradiation stage as well. This is indeed the case as it is established that, in addition to the main displacement cascade, a number of subcascades form around it.

The mobile vacancies and interstitial silicons that disperse from the emerging cluster and subclusters pene-

trate these regions (created by one primary recoil atom) and may subsequently annihilate with stable defects. In highly doped silicon, because of the formation of a barrier, the level of annihilation is lower, implying a higher rate of production of stable defects.

The model discussed makes it possible to understand why it is that radiation-produced defects can agglomerate into amorphisation only if they are introduced in the form of clusters: an established fact which has not yet been explained [66]. Doping impurities are not the only source of defect charge interchange. Nonequilibrium charge carriers that emerge in the implantation process also participate in charge interchange.

In experiments on vacancy-divacancy afterformation under electron illumination it has been found that the nonequilibrium charge carriers preferentially trapped by vacancies are electrons [29, 30].

11. Effects due to interstitial silicon atoms

As mentioned, even after low-temperature implantation or after electron or neutron irradiation, isolated Si interstitials do not behave like electrically active centres in silicon. There are, however, secondary phenomena which are due to the appearance and migration of the interstitials and which are experimentally observable. Among these phenomena is, first of all, the displacement, from lattice sites, of silicon-substituting impurity atoms, in particular aluminium (acceptor). This phenomenon is often called the Watkins effect.

Apart from displacing impurity atoms from their sites, interstitial silicon atoms may also form complexes (for example, with boron and carbon atoms), the nature and symmetry of which has been elucidated by analysing the EPR spectra. If silicon crystals contain dislocations, these must act as natural sinks for interstitial atoms.

The process of displacement of Group III atoms by Si interstitials plays a major role in the electrical activation and diffusion of an implanted impurity in silicon. This process is believed to be associated with the 'reverse annealing' behaviour observed in the dependence of the charge carrier concentration upon the annealing temperature in B-implanted silicon [67], and with the anomalously high diffusivity of boron in ion-implanted silicon under pulsed annealing conditions [68].

The process of substitution leads to the redistribution of boron atoms into a 'fast' interstitial diffusion channel. The same explains the anomalous thermal diffusion of boron in surface-oxidised silicon [69]. The oxidation process produces excess Si interstitials. Watkins discovered that Group III elements are displaced from silicon lattice sites by Si interstitials formed in high-energy electron irradiated silicon at 4.2 K. This phenomenon was also seen at the lower temperatures of 1. 6 and 0.5 K [70, 71], which raised the question of the nonactivation (athermal) intrinsic migration mechanism in silicon.

According to Bourgoin and Corbett's model [72, 73], the migration of atoms through the lattice at such low temperatures is due to the fact that as an atom changes its charge state it makes a transition from one equilibrium interstitial state to another (from tetrahedral to hexagonal, etc.). A related model [74] introduces a relay-race mechanism of migration of a dumb-bell interstitial as its charge is changed. This mechanism assumes a random migration of Si atoms until they run into a Group III element in their way.

In Refs [75, 76] the displacement of substitutional impurities during the annealing of stable interstitial complexes was investigated as a function of the concentrations of both the complexes and impurities. Not only Group III but also Group V impurities were found to be displaced. The efficiency of displacement correlated with the amount of mismatch between the covalent radii of the impurity and silicon atoms.

A study was also made of how the process of substitution is affected by electron illumination and by doping by additional Group IV impurities. The authors of Refs [75, 76] concluded that the athermal motion of selfinterstitials in the silicon lattice at very low temperature is a motion in the field of elastic strains produced by impurity atoms with covalent radii different from those of the matrix.

It proved possible to determine the radii of the spheres defined by the condition that when within such a sphere, interstitial silicons move directionally to impurity atoms. For B, Sb, P, and As, the radii of the displacement spheres are close to 200, 100, 40 and 0 Å. For Group IV impurities C, Sn, and Ge, they are approximately 250, 120, and 27 Å. The displacement of P atoms from silicon lattice sites directly under irradiation was observed using the EPR method in Ref. [77].

In the absence of substitutional impurities, interstitial Si atoms may agglomerate under low temperature irradiation. This conclusion is favoured by the data of Watkins [78] who observed the annealing of divacancies in low-temperature-irradiated silicon on warming to 140 K.

12. Conclusion

The application of ion implantation has enabled the advantages of planar technology to be employed in microelectronics. The use of high energy ions will permit the growth of multilayer structures, which must take integral microelectronics one step further.

In fast-neutron or ion irradiation, the prevailing type of vacancy defects in silicon, divacancies, are primary defects. Two types of interstitial complexes are also introduced whose concentrations are comparable to those of the divacancies. Their annealing temperatures depend on the charge state. When in the positive charge state they are annealed out near 120 and 460 °C; in neutral, near 160 and 560 °C. The agglomeration of radiation-produced defects until the amorphisation stage is entered is only possible if defect clusters are introduced.

The cause for the migration of interstitial silicon atoms in the silicon lattice at about 0 K are substitutional impurities. Interstitial Si atoms move in elastic strain fields created by atoms whose covalent radii differ from the host atom radius. The same mechanism appears to control the gettering properties of some heavy impurities not necessarily in a substitution position—rare earth elements, for example.

References

- 1. Brodie I, Murray J *Physics of Microfabrication* (New York: Plenum, 1982)
- Vavilov V S Usp. Fiz. Nauk 145 329 (1985) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 28 196 (1985)]

343

- 3. Ravi K V Impurities and Defects in Semiconducting Silicon (New York: Plenum, 1981)
- Mil'vidskii M G, Osvenskii V B Strukturnye Defekty v Monokristallakh Poluprovodnikov (Structure Defects in Semiconductor Single Crystals) (Moscow: Metallurgiya, 1984) p. 240
- Vavilov V S, Kiselev V F, Mukashev B N Defekty v Kremnii i na Ego Poverkhnosti (Bulk and Surface Defects in Silicon) (Moscow: Nauka, 1990) p. 212
- 6. Bohr N The Penetration of Atomic Particles through Matter (Copenhagen: Mat. Fys. Meddl., 1948)
- Kumakhov M A, Komarov F F Energeticheskie Poteri i Probegi Ionov v Tverdykh Telakh (Energy Losses and Ranges of Ions in Solids) (Minsk: Izd. BGU, 1979) p. 319
- Burenkov A F, Komarov F F, Kumakhov M A, Temkin M M Tablitsy Parametrov Prostranstvennogo Raspredeleniya Ionno-Implantirovannykh Primesei (Tables of the Parameters of the Spatial Distribution of Ion-Implanted Impurities) (Minsk: Izd. BGU, 1979) p. 352
- 9. Blood P, Deurnaley G, Wilkins M Radiat. Eff. 21 245 (1974)
- Michel J, Kimerling L et al. Mat. Sci. Forum. Part 2 143-147 707 (1993) (Eds H Heinrick, W Jantssih Trans. Tech. Publ.)
- 11. Biersack J P, in Ion beam modification of materials: Proc. Int. Conf. IBMM 92 (North Holland, 1993) V.1, p. 12
- Gusev V M, Guseva M I et al. Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad)
 7 2077 (1965) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 7 1673 (1966)]
- 13. Gusev V M, Guseva M I Priroda 12 25 (1979)
- 14. James H, Lark-Norovitz K Z. Phys. Chem. 198 107 (1951)
- Dvurechenskii A V, Kachurin G A, Nidaev E V, Smirnov L S Impul'snyi Otzhig Poluprovodnikovykh Materialov (Pulsed Annealing of Semiconducting Materials) (Moscow: Nauka, 1982) p. 208
- Corbett J W, Bourgoin J C, in *Tochechnye Defekty v Tverdykh Telakh* (Point Defects in Solids) (Eds B I Boltaks, T V Mashovets, A N Orlova) (Moscow: Mir, 1979) p. 305
- Dienes J, Vineyard J Radiatsionnye Defecty v Tverdykh Telakh (Radiation Produced Defects in Solids) (Moscow: Inostr. Lit., 1960) p. 305
- 18. Brinkman J J. Appl. Phys. 25 961 (1954)
- 19. Seitz F, Koehler J Solid State Phys. 2 307 (1954)
- Vavilov V S, Kiv A E, Niyazova O R Mekhanizmy Obrazovaniya i Migratsii Defektov v Poluprovodnikakh (Mechanisms of Formation and Migration of Defects in Semiconductors) (Moscow: Nauka, 1981) c. 368
- 21. Klinger M I et al. Usp. Fiz. Nauk 147 523 (1985) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 28 994 (1985)]
- 22. Watkins G D Mat. Sci. Forum Part 2 143-147 5 (1993) (Eds H Heinrick, W Jantssih Trans. Tech. Publ.)
- 23. Aleshchenko Yu A et al. Radiat. Eff. and Defects in Solids 25 323 (1993)
- Pavlov P V, Demidov E S, Zorina G N Fiz. Tekh. Poluprovodn.
 21 984 (1987) [Sov. Phys. Semicond. 21 603 (1987)]
- 25. Vinetskii V L, Kondrachuk A V Radiat. Eff. 30 227 (1976)
- Watkins G D, in *Lattice Defects in Semiconductors* (Conf. Ser. 23, 1974) (London: Institute of Physics, 1975) p. 1
- 27. Corbett J W, Watkins G D Phys. Rev. Lett. 7 314 (1961)
- 28. Corbett J W, Watkins G D Phys. Rev. Lett. 138 555 (1965)
- 29. Whan R E J. Appl. Phys. 37 3378 (1966)
- 30. Barness C E IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. NS-16 28 (1969)
- 31. Brower K L, Beezhold W J J. Appl. Phys. 43 3499 (1972)
- 32. Stein H J, Vook F L, Brice D K et al. Radiat. Eff. 6 19 (1970)
- Baranova E K, Gusev V M, Martynenko Yu V et al., in Radiatsionnye Defekty v Poluprovodnikakh (Radiation Defects in Semiconductors) (Minsk: Izd. BGU, 1972) p. 8
- 34. Brower K L, in *Proc. 5th Int. Conf. Ion Implant.* (Boulder, Colorado, 1976)
- 35. Cheng L J, Lori J Phys. Rev. 171 856 (1968)
- Speriosu V S, Glass H L, Kobayshi T Appl. Phys. Lett. 34 539 (1979)
- Kyutt R N, Petrashen P V, Sorokin M L Phys. Status Solidi A 60 381 (1980)
- 38. Tkachev V D, Holzer G, Chelyadinskii A R Phys. Status Solidi A 85 K43 (1984)

- 39. Baker J A, Tucker T N, Moyer N E, Bacchert R C J. Appl. *Phys.* **39** 4365 (1968)
- 40. Eer Nisse E P Appl. Phys. Lett. 18 581 (1971)
- 41. Araika Rivera O J, Chelyadinskii A R, Dravin V A et al. Nucl. Instrum. Methods B 73 503 (1993)
- Stel'makh V F, Tkachev V D, Chelyadinskii A R Fiz. Tekh. Poluprovodn. 12 2074 (1978) [Sov. Phys. Semicond. 12 1239 (1978)]
- Grob A, Grob J J, Golanskii A Nucl. Instrum. Methods B 19/ 20 55 (1987)
- Stel'makh V F, Chelyadinskii A R Elektronnaya Tekhnika. Mat erialy 7 77 (1980)
- 45. Jung W, Newell G S Phys. Rev. 132 648 (1963)
- Botvin V A, Gorelkinskii Yu V, Sigle V O et al. Fiz. Tekh. Poluprovodn. 6 1683 (1972) [Sov. Phys. Semicond. 6 1453 (1973)]
- 47. Berezhnov N I, Stelmakh V F, Chelyadinskii A R Phys. Status Solidi A 78 K121 (1983)
- Baranova E K, Gusev V M, Strel'tsov L N, in *Radiatsionnye* Defekty v Poluprovodnikakh Appendix (Radiation Defects in Semiconductors) (Minsk: Izd. BGU, 1972) p. 8
- 49. Negrini P, Servidori M, Solmi S Philos. Mag. A 61 553 (1990)
- Smirnov I N, Ponomarev A I, Shemelev V N *Fiz. Tek h. Poluprovodn.* **18** 680 (1984) [Sov. Phys. Semicond. **18** 422 (1984)]
- 51. Zhevno A N, Sidorik V V, Tkachev V D Dokl. Aka d. Nauk BSS R 20 409 (1976)
- Stel'makh V F, Tkachev V D, Chelyadinskii A R *Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad)* 20 2196 (1978) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 20 1267 (1978)]
- Tan S J, Berry B S, Frank W J F, in *Ion Implantation in Semiconductors and Other Matter* (Ed. B L Crowder) (New York: Plenum, 1974) p. 19
- 54. Seshan K, Washburn J Radiat. Eff. 26 31 (1975)
- Berezhnov N I, Stel'makh V F, Chelyadinskii A R Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Fiz. (7) 76 (1984) [Sov. Phys. J. 27 608 (1984)]
- 56. Jadan M, Berezhnov N I, Chelyadinskii A R, in Abstr. X Int. Conf. Ion Implant. Technology (Catania, Italy, 1994)
- 57. Brower K L Phys. Rev. 14 872 (1976)
- Berezhnov N I, Suprun-Belevich Yu R, Chelyadinskii A R, Khaki Ismail' Khaki Takher *Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Fiz.* (4) 55 (1981)
- 59. Eriksson L, Davies J A, Denhartog J Can. Nucl. Technol. 5 40 (1966)
- 60. North J C, Gibbson W M Appl. Phys. Lett. 16 126 (1970)
- 61. Hirvonen J K, Eisen F H Appl. Phys. Lett. 19 14 (1971)
- Dvurechenskii A V, Popov V P, Kashnikov B P, Grippentrog M Poverkhnost' Fiz. 9 77 (1986)
- Grotzschel R, Dvurechenskii A V, Popov V P Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 28 3134 (1986) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 28 1763 (1986)]
- 64. Khaki Ismail' Khaki Takher *Candidate's Dissertation* (Minsk: Izd. BGU, 1993)
- 65. Gossick B R J. Appl. Phys. 30 1214 (1959)
- 66. Matthews M D, Ashby S J Philos. Mag. 27 1313 (1973)
- 67. Webber R F, Thorn R S, Large L N Int. J. Electron. 26 163 (1969)
- Stel'makh V F, Suprun-Belevich Yu R, Chelyadinskii A R Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Fiz. (9) 115 (1987)
- 69. Antoniadis D A, Moskowitz I J. Appl. Phys. 53 6788 (1982)
- 70. McKeighen R E, Koehler J C Phys. Rev. B 4 362 (1971)
- 71. Gwozdz P S, Koehler J S Phys. Rev. B 6 4571 (1972)
- 72. Bourgoin J C, Corbett J W Inst. Phys. Conf. Ser. 23 149 (1975)
- 73. Weiser K Phys. Rev. 126 1427 (1962)
- 74. Gerasimov A B, Tsertsvadze A A Fiz. Tekh. Poluprovodn. 13 350 (1979) [Sov. Phys. Semicond. 13 203 (1979)]
- Berezhnov N I, Suprun-Belevich Yu R, Chelyadinskii A R, in Tez. Dokl. Vsesoyuz. Konf. po Fizike Poluprovodnikov (Abstr. All-Union Conf. on the Physics of Semiconductors) (Kiev, 1990) P.1, p. 274
- 76. Berezhnov N I, Chelyadinskii A R, Jadan M, Suprun-Belevich Yu R Nucl. Instrum. Methods B 73 357 (1993)

- 77. Akhmetov V D, Bolotov V V, Kamaev G N, Smirnov L S Fiz. Tekh. Poluprovodn. 24 72 (1990) [Sov. Phys. Semicond. 24 44 (1990)]
- 78. Watkins G D, in *Radiation Effects in Semiconductors* (New York: Plenum Press, 1968) p. 67